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The 01d Florence Store 1905
Florence

Private

The 01ld Florence Store faces east on the southwest corner
of Florence Road and Route 94 in Florence.

This old country store has undergone several transformations
since the 1960's, when it was a social center, as well as a store,
furnishing general merchandise to the residents of this area.
Acquired by Mr. and Mrs. James J. Rosensteel, it has been created
into a charming residence with an apartment on the ground floor
and second floor.

Originally the country store held one large, rectangular room
on the first and second floors, with only a small area of the dirt
cellar dug out to store firewood.

Today, little remains except the rectangular, two story high,
gabled roof (running north-south) form of the principle building
block. The original tall, rectangular, double-hung windows, holding
six-over-six lights, have been replaced by more squarely shaped,
double-hung windows, holding eight-over-eight lights or smaller
windows. A full, cinderblock foundation has been dug out, and, on
the east elevation, is faced with brick. This now holds a ground
floor apartment.

An old photograph, taken when under the ownership of Mr. J.
J. Doherty, indicates a central, rectangular, east entrance door,
flanked by six-over-six light, rectangular windows, all of which is
covered by a one story high, shed roofed, open porch, supported by
four, square, wooden posts. Three similar windows rest above.

This country store replaced a previous store located here and
designated on the 1878 Heopkin's Atlas.
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL {IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The 0ld Florence Store faces east on the southwest corner of Florence
Road and Route 94 in Florence.

This old country store has undergone several transformations since the
1960's, when it was a social center, as well as a store, furnishing
general merchandise to the residents of this area. Acquired by Mr. and
Mrs. James J. Rosensteel, it has been created into a charming residence
with an apartment on the ground floor and second floor.

Originally the country store held one large, rectangular room on the
first and second floors, with only a small area of the dirt cellar
dug out to store fire wood.

Today, little remains except the rectangular, two story high, gabled roof
(running north-south) form of the principle building block. The original
tall, rectangular, double hung windows, holding six-over-six lights, have
been replaced by more squarely shaped, double-hung windows, holding eight-
over-eight lights or smaller windows. A full, cinderblock foundation has
been dug out, and, on the east elevation, is faced with brick. This now
holds a ground floor apartment.

An old photograph, taken when under the ownership of Mr. J. J. Doherty,
indicates a central, rectangular, east entrance door, flanked by six-over-
six light, rectangular windows, all of which is covered by a one story
high, shed roofed, open porch, supported by four, square, wooden vosts.
Three similar windows rest above.

Today, the building is a three bay wide, two bay deep, two story high,
gabled roof (running north-south) frame (covered with aluminum siding)
building, originally resting on a stone foundation, which has now been
created into a full story, cement block (faced with brick on the east
elevation) foundation. A three story high, shed roofed, open porch held
on the ground floor by four iron posts, and on the first and second floors,
by four square, wooden posts, runs along the entire east elevation. The
ground floor of the east facade holds a central, rectangular, entrance
flanked by picture windows. The original first floor, central entrance
has been replaced by an eight-over-eight light window with the present
rectangular entrance placed in the north bay of this wall. Its south bay
holds a similar eight-over-eight light window.

The second floor holds end bay, rectangular entrances, with a central bay,
eight-over-eight light window.

The south elevation of the building has also been altered. Originally

it held a first and second floor, rectangular, six-over-six light, window,
in its west bay, the first floor of which was decorated with shutters.

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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A circular attic window, or bull's eye, was inset into the "A" framed
by the gable roof.

Today two narrow, horizontal rectangular, one-one light windows are placed
on the first floor of this wall and a west bay, one-over-one light,

second floor window with an eight-over-eight light, east bay, second

floor window punctuating this wall.

Along the west wall of the building was a one story high, gabled roof
(running east-west) pull through garage, with a small area on its east
side for supplies and fresh produce from the market, with now has been
created into a modern family room with fireplace on its west wall. The
large garage doors on the south facade now hold an eighteen light bow
window, underlined and supported by an arched brick wall. An entrance
door on the east side of the bow window is placed close to the same lo-
cation as an earlier rectangular entrance into the fresh produce storage
area.

One story high, shed roof, open porches have been constructed along both
the north and south elevations of this original pull-through garage,
which has now become a charming addition to a private residence.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The 0l1d Florence Store at Florence, Howard County, Maryland, is
one of the earliest commercial buildings still standing in western
Howard Countx, which was responsible for the creation of Florence as
a community. Distinction attaching from age is expanded upon by its
original use as a Country Store, for it is, along with the Daisy
Trading Post, Pindell's Country Store at Glenwood and Lee's Market in
Lisbon, one of the few commercial buildings to serve this area.2 Addi-
tionally, the pattern of adaptive use from commercial to residential
over a period of time is significant for two reasons: it reflects a
common building practice in the history of the United States,3 and it
mirrors the evolution of this particular community from shortly after
the Eivil War through the turn of the present century and even to this
day.

History and Support

1. J. D. Warfield, a local historian, gives the following history of
Florence in which he points out the fact that the community was started
as a cross-roads store, this building now in question:

This village was named by Gassaway Watkins Warfield...
Though present when it was named, I cannot remember the favorite
lady thus honored. Florence was started as a cross-roads store,
later becoming a post-office; it is now a business center for a
large section of Upper Howard (1905). Hon. Walter M. Black, for-
mer delegate to the Legislature, adjoins it on the north and
Joshua N. Warfield, of the Democratic Executive Committee and
School Commissioner of the County, owns the whole village and
adjoins it on the south. Both have converted old fields into
productive farms, upon which are commodious houses upon the
sites of the progenitor's primitive abodes.

On March 13, 1875 Joshua N. Warfield acquired the property from William
R. Warfield. It is generally believed that Joshua Warfield constructed
the first country store in this location, which had formerly been used
as a blacksmith shop, which stood south of the present buildihg. Joshua
Warfield started the store and then rented it out to his brother, :

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY
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Marshall T. Warfield. Other managers which followed were Clarence
Owings, the Warthen Brothers and Mr. Charles Pickett, whose son

was once Register of Wills for Howard County. The store burned down
one night some seventy-five years ago and the Warfields rebuilt it,
renting it out to John J. Doherty, until, in 1923, he bought the
store, continuing to operate it until 1964 when it became the pro-
perty of Mr. and Mrs. James Rosensteel.

2. The Country Store in the rural area of the United States served,
not only the commercial needs of its neighborhood, but its social
needs as well. As late as 1964, one could find four of five men
sitting around the store, spinning yarns and passing the time of day.
Messages might be put up, serving to inform the community of various
events or encouraging political support for one or another candidate.
The importance of the cohesiveness and genuine neighborhood feeling
it generated is not easily accessed in today's world, which encom-
passed the large shopping malls of the Baltimore-Washington Area.
Here everything was on the human scale and one, one room store pro-
vided feed, fertilizer, shoes, yardgoods, groceries and fresh produce
for a small community, who all knew one another and were often related.

3. A pattern of adaptive use from commercial to residential has been
seen in several area of Howard County; on Main Street, Elkridge, where
former grocery stores are now fine private residences; in Lisbon, where
the shops of blacksmiths and wheelrights are now comfortable homes; to
this little country store in Florence, now the home of the owner, with
an additional ground floor apartment. This pattern of adaptive use is
also seen in both Washington and Baltimore as well.

4. The rise of Joshua Warfield's country store and post office in 1878
mirrored and sought to provide for the needs of the community. By 1905,
in the words of J. D. Warfield, it was "now a business center for a
large section of upper Howard". The store flourished through the next
decades until the 1960's, when there was a general decline and final
closing. Today, the area remains much as it was at the turn of the
century, but two things may be responsible for its demise: 1) the
advent of the automobile with its accessibility to other market areas
and 2) the rise of the suburban shopping centers of Westview, Normandy .
and the Columbia Mall, with their more sophisticated approach to mar-
keting. Fortunately, this Country Store has been adapted to a new resi-
dential use and remains as a lankmark for the surrounding neighborhood
to enjoy.
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Wwarfield, J. D. Founders of Anne Arundel and Howard County, Maryland

Baltimore, 1973.
Interview with Mrs. James J. Rosensteel at her home on May 14, 1980.

Interview with Mr. Charles Layton, longtime resident of Florence on

May 22, 1980
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Name : HO-252

The 0ld Florence Store
Location: 2685 Daisy Road

Woodbine, Maryland

Photographer: Cleora B. Thompson, A.I.C.P.
Date of Photograph: May, 1980
Negatives in possession of the Maryland Historical Trust
View: West
Photographer looking: East
Photograph number: 1 of 1



